STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL N. FRASIER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000802

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
APR 23 2018
SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to suppress evidence obtained when the police unlawfully seized Appellant, a passenger in a car stopped for having an inoperable third brake light, by exceeding the scope of the initial traffic stop and lacking a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to support the extension of the stop?
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to suppress a bus ticket, a straw and a small bag of cocaine found on Appellant's person as a result of a nonconsensual search conducted without probable cause?
3. Did the trial judge err in refusing to suppress Appellant's statements to police when the statements were involuntary and in violation of the rule established in Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October of 2013, the Charleston County Grand Jury¹ indicted Appellant Frasier for trafficking cocaine, indictment #2013-GS-10- 06360. (R. p. 364). On March 22, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Jason T. King and Jessica L. Birt represented Appellant at trial. E. Culver Kidd, IV and Scott Maynor prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge Jefferson sentenced Appellant to twenty-five (25) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on March 30, 2017. This appeal follows.

¹ It is unclear who testified before the Charleston County Grand Jury as the indictment lists the North Charleston Police Department.

FACTS OF THE CASE

On the morning of August 14, 2013, narcotics officers with the North Charleston Police Department saw Appellant leave the bus station in North Charleston, get into a car and leave. (R. p. 28, lines 9-19). During the pre-trial hearing on Appellant's motion to suppress Officer Pritchard testified, "It appeared to me that he was clearing the area for threats, i.e., whether it be law enforcement, enemies, something of the sort. He was uncomfortable, it appeared to me." (R. p. 28, line 24 – p. 29, lines 1-2). Based on this purported suspicious behavior, the officers followed the car in which Appellant was a passenger. Officer Pritchard testified, "Commonly, this happened multiples where we had to get the vehicle stopped leaving certain areas due to the fact that we have no lights. And we've had to – it's easier for us to follow in an unmarked vehicle where we can get a violation. On this particular date, we did follow the vehicle and were able to get a violation on the vehicle, which was a third brake light." (R. p. 30, lines 12-19). After the narcotics officers "got a violation" they contacted a patrol officer to stop the car for the brake light violation. (R. p. 37, lines 1-12).

Officer Hall, the patrol officer who was contacted by the narcotics officers, stopped the car. Cheryl Jones was the driver, Appellant was a passenger in the front seat and there was a child in the backseat. (R. p. 172, lines 16-21; p. 48, line 23 – p. 49, lines 1-2). Once Officer Hall determined that Ms. Jones had a valid driver's license and neither Jones nor Appellant had outstanding warrants, the officer decided to write a warning ticket and "try to get consent." (R. p. 64, lines 20-23). Another officer, Officer Deaton, provided backup at the traffic stop. (R. p. 174, lines 10-18). According to Officer Hall, Ms. Jones gave consent to search the car. (R. p. 66, lines 18-19). The officers asked both Ms. Jones and Appellant to step out of the car.

Officer Hall testified that he asked Appellant “if he minded if I checked him out or searched him, and he said, ‘I do, but’, and just kind of put his hands on top of the car.” (R. p. 46, lines 23-25). Officer Hall searched Appellant and found a small bag containing cocaine, a straw and a bus ticket. (R. p. 232, lines 1-3; p. 237, line 11 – p. 238, 239, 240 lines 1-2). At this point Officer Hall arrested Appellant. (R. p. 47, lines 16-20). Officer Hall and another officer searched the car and found more cocaine in a jacket in the backseat. (R. p. 48, lines 12-22). The officers also found Superior B, a substance used to cut cocaine, in a bag in the backseat. (R. p. 77, lines 13-15).

Prior to *Miranda* warnings, Officer Hall questioned Appellant about the jacket where the cocaine was found. (R. p. 49, lines 12-19). Officer Hall testified that Appellant stated that the jacket was his. (R. p. 49, lines 20-21). Eight minutes later, Officer Hall advised Appellant of his *Miranda* rights. (R. p. 76, lines 7-11). Officer Hall again asked Appellant about the jacket found in the car. (R. p. 76, lines 15-19) Officer Pritchard, one of the narcotics officers who arrived at the stop later, also asked Appellant, post *Miranda* warnings, about the cocaine found in the jacket in the car. According to the officer, Appellant responded, “I’m responsible.” (R. p. 159, lines 19-21). Ms. Jones was given a warning ticket for the inoperable third brake light but was not arrested or charged with any drug offense.

ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge erred in refusing to suppress evidence obtained when the police unlawfully seized Appellant, a passenger in a car stopped for having an inoperable third brake light, by exceeding the scope of the initial traffic stop and lacking a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to support the extension of the stop.

Prior to trial Appellant filed a written motion to suppress and moved to suppress all evidence, including a small amount of cocaine, a straw and a bus ticket found on Appellant's person, cocaine found in the car, cutting agent found in the car, the dash cam video of the traffic stop and statements of the Appellant, obtained as a result of an illegal seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, §10 of the South Carolina Constitution. (R. pp. 91-125; R. p. 350- 355). The trial judge denied the motion finding that the police had reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify the extension of the initial traffic stop. (R. pp. 109-135). The trial judge erred. The State failed to establish that the police officers had reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop. There is no evidence to support the trial judge's finding of reasonable suspicion.

Narcotics officers with the North Charleston Police Department ordered a traffic stop of the car in which Appellant left the bus station as a passenger based on the fact that Appellant scanned the parking lot as he left the bus station. (R. p. 35, line 6 – p. 36, 37, lines 1-12). The inoperable third brake light violation was a mere pretext for the stop. As the trial judge stated, "We know that they called to have him stopped because they saw his behavior at the bus station. They felt it was suspicious, and that they were just looking for a reason to stop the car so that they could search him and find out if there were illegal drugs in the car." (R. p. 92, lines 12-17). When Officer Hall, the patrol officer called to make the traffic stop, was asked what information he received from the narcotics officers, Officer Hall testified, "I was told that they had – they

were watching the bus station and observed the subject exit the bus station, enter a car. They didn't give me – run through all the particulars. They just believed that something was funny about it and asked if I would conduct a traffic stop on the vehicle.” (R. p. 55, lines 1-6). A video of the traffic stop was introduced in evidence and marked as State's Exhibit #6. The video reflects that Officer Hall reached a speed of up to 87 miles per hour in order to catch up with the car. (R. p. 56, lines 7-14).

At 8:07 AM Officer Hall initiated his blue lights while the car was on the Cosgrove Bridge where the driver, Cheryl Jones, could not immediately pull over. (R. p. 56, line 18 – p. 57, line 1; p. 81, lines 10-11). Within forty-nine seconds of the initiation of the blue light Ms. Jones pulled over. (R. p. 58, lines 15-18). When the officer approached the car he noticed that Ms. Jones' zipper was down and her pants were “kind of undone.” (R. p. 41, lines 9-12). Jones told the officer that she had just gotten out of the shower before coming to the bus station and she must have forgotten to zip her pants. (R. p. 63, lines 1-12). As noted by the trial judge in discussing Ms. Jones' attitude, “And you can see her attitude to the video. Like, I just got out of the shower, why is it your business that my zipper is down, which I don't know is necessarily unreasonable.” (R. p. 96, line 23 – p. 97, line 1).

The officer testified that Appellant, the passenger, appeared to be nervous. “He was sweating profusely, did not want to really interact with me a whole lot as far as eye contact, something like that.” (R. p. 43, lines 3-5). As noted by the trial judge, “Everybody sweats profusely in August in Charleston.” (R. p. 82, line 25 – p. 83, line 1). The video of the traffic stop shows an officer wiping his brow. Complaints about the heat and concerns about getting Ms. Jones and the child out of the heat can also be heard on the tape. (R. p. 61, line 6 – p. 62, lines 1-22).

At 8:11 AM Officer Hall ran a driver's license check. (R. p. 81, lines 11-12). The information checks on both Ms. Jones and Appellant came back clear at 8:13 AM. (R. p. 64, lines 2-19). At this point Officer Hall decided to issue a warning ticket for the inoperable third brake light and to "try and obtain consent to search." (R. p. 64, lines 20-24). The officer testified that while he was writing the warning ticket, the driver's side door opened. (R. p. 73, lines 22-25).

Instead of giving Ms. Jones the warning ticket, Officer Hall asked her to step out of the car. After a few questions Officer Hall stated, "You don't mind if I take a quick look do you?" Jones responded, "No." (See State's Exhibit #6, video of traffic stop). The following questioning of Officer Hall took place during the suppression hearing:

Q. So doesn't look like you actually gave her the ticket at that point?

A. No.

Q. But you have the ticket written out and ready to give to her, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. At that point, you are basically done with the traffic part of it, right? You are still concerned about there may be something in the car.

A. Correct.

Q. But the traffic portion of it, you've written the ticket out. And instead of giving it to her, you get her out and start talking to her about whether you can search the car?

A. Yes, sir.

(R. p. 66, lines 3-17). At this point, the purpose of the initial traffic stop for an inoperable third brake light had ended. According to the officer, Jones then gave consent to search the car. (R. p. 66, lines 18-19). The prosecutor asserted that consent was given at 8:19 AM. (R. p. 81, lines 13-

15). When asked how long a typical traffic stop lasts Officer Hall testified, “Ten minutes, fifteen minutes maybe. I would say ten probably.” (R. p. 55, lines 22-25).

Officer Hall did not have a basis to suspect that there were drugs in the car. The officer testified at the pretrial hearing, “Just with the totality of everything, with what I was relayed from the detectives and almost evasiveness – well, not evasiveness, but the length they pulled over, her zipper being undone, just not being very direct with their answers with me, my interested was piqued highly that something was amiss or – I don’t know.” (R. p. 45, lines 2-7). The officer admitted, however, that neither Jones nor the Appellant provided false or conflicting statements. (R. p. 59, lines 8-23). Officer Hall agreed that within the first two minutes of the stop Appellant told the officer he was coming from New York and Jones told the officer she was coming from the bus station. (R. p. 59, lines 8-15).

The prosecutor told the judge, “This traffic stop was extended based on a reasonable articulable suspicion.” (R. p. 81, lines 20-21). The prosecutor argued that Appellant’s scanning the parking lot at the bus stop, the fact that the driver’s pants were unzipped, Appellant’s nervous behavior and inability to answer questions directly, the driver’s delay in stopping and opening the door during the traffic stop amounted to reasonable suspicion to justify the extended traffic stop. (R. p. 85, lines 6-18).

Appellant, citing State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 698 S.E.2d 203 (2010), moved to suppress the evidence found on Appellant’s person and the evidence found in the car. (R. p. 91, lines 7-19). Appellant argued that any purported consent to search was invalid because it was the product of the illegal prolonged detention. (R. p. 93, lines 10-24; p. 101, lines 3-14). Appellant argued that the officer did not have reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop. (R. p. 97, lines 4-9; p. 100, line 8 – p. 102, lines 1-2).

The trial judge, without discussing what particular factors constituted reasonable articulable suspicion, found that the officer had an objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion that illegal activity had occurred or was occurring. (R. pp. 131-135). The trial judge appears to acknowledge that the determination of whether the State presented evidence of reasonable suspicion to justify the extended traffic stop was a close call stating, “The next, and I’ve shared this with counsel, the next issue is the stop, which really is at best a 50/50 call based on the facts as they have been presented in the testimony.” (R. p. 131, lines 9-12). The judge went on to state, “And I think the parties would agree that the initial purpose of the stop was the taillight² being out, that clearly the purpose of that stop had been concluded. And then there was a second extension of the stop.” (R. p. 132, lines 13-16). The judge then discussed the narcotics officer’s observation of alleged suspicious behavior at the bus stop. (R. p. 132, line 17 – p. 133, lines 1-18). The trial judge acknowledged that the patrol officer was justified in questioning Jones and the Appellant during the traffic stop. (R. p. 133, lines 19-22). The trial judge acknowledged that nervousness alone is not enough to justify extending a traffic stop. (R. p. 133, line 23 – p. 134, line 1). The judge then stated:

Now, the officers have articulated many factors. And just in the interest of time, because the jury now has been waiting since 1:30 on us and it’s now 2:12. It’s not their fault. It took us a little bit longer. And I needed to give you all a reasonable chance to eat as well before we proceeded with the trial. But in the interest of time, I’m just going to cut to the chase on it, which is that the officers articulated what they believed to be the basis of a reasonable and articulable suspicion to extend the stop. And I find that testimony is reasonable and supported by the facts.

(R. p. 134, lines 14-24). The trial judge found that the purported delay in stopping, however, was reasonable and did not contribute to reasonable suspicion. (R. p. 134, line 25 – p. 135, lines 1-17). The trial judge’s finding that the officer had a reasonable articulable suspicion to justify

² The third brake light was out, not the taillight.

the extended traffic stop and detention is not supported by the record and constitutes clear error requiring reversal.

During trial Appellant renewed his objection to the admission of the dash cam video. (R. p. 168, lines 5-9). Appellant also renewed the objection to the admission of the small amount of cocaine found on Appellant's person. (R. p. 231, lines 23-24). Additionally, Appellant renewed his objection to the bus ticket and the straw found on Appellant's person. (R. p. 237, line 14 – p. 238, 239, 240, lines 1-10). Appellant renewed his objection to the admission of the cocaine found in the car. (R. p. 232, line 15; p. 263, lines 22-25; p. 266, lines 1-18). Appellant also renewed his objection to the admission of the Superior B cutting agent. (R. p. 236, lines 21-23). Appellant renewed his objections to a post *Miranda* statement attributed to Appellant. (R. p. 156, line 23 – p. 157, lines 1-6; p. 158, lines 16-18, p. 159, line 6, p. 240, lines 19-20). All evidence subject to the suppression motion was admitted over objection. The objections were again renewed at the close of the State's case and after the jury reached a verdict. (R. p. 278, lines 16-20; p. 346, lines 5-6).

“In Fourth Amendment cases, the trial court's factual rulings are reviewed under the ‘clear error’ standard.” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 498, 706 S.E.2d 513, 515 (citing State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000)). “Under the clear error standard, an appellate court will not reverse a trial court's findings of fact simply because it would have decided the case differently.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted) (citing State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct.App.2005)). “Therefore, we will affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court's rulings.” *Id.* (citing State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002)).

The Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States grants citizens the right to be secure against unreasonable search and seizure. (U.S. Const. amend. IV). Temporary detention of an individual in the course of a routine traffic stop constitutes a Fourth Amendment seizure, but where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, such a seizure is reasonable *per se*. See Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (1996). In carrying out a routine traffic stop, a law enforcement officer may request a driver's license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation. See United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126, 131 (4th Cir.1998). However, “[a]ny further *detention* for questioning is beyond the scope of the stop and therefore illegal unless the officer has a reasonable suspicion of a serious crime.” *Id.* (emphasis added); see Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983) (plurality opinion) (“[A]n investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop.”). The initial pretextual traffic stop for the inoperable third brake light is not being challenged. The prolonged detention by Officer Hall after he wrote the warning ticket, however, required additional reasonable suspicion.

In State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 252, 781 S.E.2d 897, 900–01, cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 2473, 195 L. Ed. 2d 809 (2016) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

“Violation of motor vehicle codes provides an officer reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop.” *Id.* (citing Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 109, 98 S.Ct. 330, 54 L.Ed.2d 331 (1977)). “A traffic stop supported by reasonable suspicion of a traffic violation remains valid until the purpose of the traffic stop has been completed.” *Id.* (citing Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 333, 129 S.Ct. 781, 172 L.Ed.2d 694 (2009)); see Rodriguez v. United States, —U.S. —, 135 S.Ct. 1609, 1616, 191 L.Ed.2d 492 (2015) (holding that even a *de minimis* extension of a traffic stop is unconstitutional absent reasonable suspicion). However, “[o]nce the underlying basis for the initial traffic stop has concluded, it does not automatically follow that any further detention for questioning is unconstitutional.” Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848. “[T]he officer may detain the driver for questioning unrelated to the initial stop if

he has an objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion illegal activity has occurred or is occurring.’ ” *Id.* (quoting United States v. Hunnicutt, 135 F.3d 1345, 1349 (10th Cir.1998)).

Officer Hall’s continued detention of Appellant and Jones **after** checks on both of them came back clear and the officer wrote the warning ticket, exceeded the scope of the traffic stop and constituted a seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. At the time Officer Hall returned to the car the purpose of the traffic stop had been accomplished except for the issuance of the warning. Instead of issuing a warning the officer continued to question Appellant and Jones and asked both to step out of the car. The officer still had Appellant’s license and there was another officer present on the scene. (R. p. 65, lines 9-12). A reasonable person in Appellant’s position would not have felt free to terminate the encounter. Officer Hall admitted that he never told them that they were free to leave. (R. p. 66, lines 20-25).

The prosecutor admitted that the traffic stop had been extended beyond the scope of the initial traffic stop for an inoperable third brake light but argued that the officer had an objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion illegal activity had occurred or was occurring. The prosecutor told the judge, “This traffic stop was extended based on a reasonable articulable suspicion.” (R. p. 81, lines 20-21). Officer Hall, however, did not have an objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion that illegal activity had occurred or was occurring, rendering the prolonged detention unconstitutional.

“[I]n evaluating whether an officer possesses reasonable suspicion, this Court must “consider ‘the totality of the circumstances—the whole picture.’ ” Sokolow, 490 U.S. at 8, 109 S.Ct. 1581 (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417, 101 S.Ct. 690, 66 L.Ed.2d 621 (1981)). State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 253, 781 S.E.2d 897, 901, cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 2473,

195 L. Ed. 2d 809 (2016). In State v. Spears, 420 S.C. 363, 802 S.E.2d 803, 808 (Ct. App. 2017), reh'g denied (Aug. 18, 2017) the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

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