ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-000802

RECEIVED
APR 24 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL FRASIER, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

circumstances and was not indicative of a deliberate intent to circumvent any constitutional requirements. See Elstad, 470 U.S. at 315-316 (excusing an officer's failure to initial advise a suspect of his rights where the failure may have resulted from confusion or may "simply have reflected . . . reluctance to initiate an alarming police procedure"); see also Moore, 670 F.3d at 229 ("[I]f it is found, after weighing the investigator's credibility, that the investigator's intent was not 'calculated . . . to undermine Miranda,' delay will not require exclusion of the later, warned statement even if the court finds that the delay was for an illegitimate reason and even in the absence of curative measures." (citation omitted)).

Beyond the absence of deliberate police misconduct, under the totality of the circumstances of Appellant's case, Appellant's post-warning statements were voluntary and only made after a valid waiver of his rights. Demonstrating the voluntariness of Appellant's statements, the initial pre-warning questioning was exceedingly brief and was limited to just a few questions.¹⁶ Cf. Navy, 386 S.C. at 303, 688 S.E.2d at 842 (finding a Seibert violation where the officers questioned [Navy] at headquarters for **almost three hours before giving the warning**" (emphasis added)). Similarly, not only was the questioning scant, Appellant provided limited, undetailed, and incomplete responses to the officer's questions while also demonstrating an understanding of his rights by **refusing** to reveal anything beyond the fact the jacket belonged to him. See United States v. Street, 472 F.3d 1298, 1314 (11th Cir. 2006) (finding no Seibert violation where the officer did not deliberately elicit Street's statement through a "question first and warn later" tactic and where "[t]he questioning of Street before he was given full Miranda warnings was brief and general"); cf. Seibert, 542 U.S. at 616 (plurality opinion) ("When the

¹⁶ Notably, after finding the cocaine in the jacket, Officer Hall collectively questioned Appellant and Jones about the jacket and its contents for roughly **one minute** before subsequently informing Appellant of his rights several minutes later. (Court's Ex. # 1).

police were finished there was little, if anything, of incriminating potential left unsaid.”).

Likewise, as the trial judge noted, the nature of the initial pre-warning questioning was very different than the post-warning questioning as the initial questioning was directed at both Jones and Appellant collectively on the side of the road while the post-warning questioning was conducted in Officer Hall’s patrol vehicle and directed solely at Appellant approximately eight minutes after the joint questioning had concluded. See State v. Medley, 417 S.C. 18, 28, 787 S.E.2d 847, 852-853 (Ct. App. 2016) (finding no Seibert violation where the pre-warning questioning occurred in Medley’s parent’s yard while the post-warning questioning occurred in a patrol car roughly twenty-two minutes later). Furthermore, Sergeant Pritchard, a narcotics detective, was present at the scene for the post-warning questioning and also spoke with Appellant about the cocaine discovered during the stop, which demonstrated the law enforcement personnel involved in the questioning changed to some degree between the rounds of questioning. See Seibert, 542 U.S. at 615 (plurality opinion) (instructing “the continuity of police personnel” is a factor to consider in determining voluntariness). Finally, Appellant was fully informed of his rights prior to the post-warning questioning, and, significantly, Appellant again demonstrated an understanding of his rights by once again refusing to provide a complete and detailed confession to the officers. See Elstad, 470 U.S. at 318 (“[T]here is no warrant for presuming coercive effect where the suspect’s initial inculpatory statement, though technically in violation of Miranda, was voluntary. The relevant inquiry is whether, in fact, the second statement was also voluntarily made. As in any such inquiry, the finder of fact must examine the surrounding circumstances and the entire course of police conduct with respect to the suspect in evaluating the voluntariness of his statements. The fact that a suspect chooses to speak after being informed of his rights is, of course, highly probative.” (footnote omitted)).

Critically, when those circumstances are considered in conjunction with Appellant's substantial prior criminal justice experience, Appellant's age and maturity, and the lack of any threats, coercion, or prolonged questioning, Appellant's post-warning statements were voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently made after a valid waiver of his rights.¹⁷ See State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 201, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) (finding Rochester's statement was properly admitted where sufficient evidence was presented to show he "was not worn down by improper interrogation tactics such as lengthy questioning, trickery, or deceit"); see also State v. Mahatha, 157 N.C. App. 183, 196, 578 S.E.2d 617, 625 (N.C. Ct. App. 2003) ("A defendant's prior experience with the criminal justice system, even where the experience consists of a single prior arrest, is 'an important consideration in determining whether an inculpatory statement was made voluntarily and understandingly.'" (citation omitted)); cf. United States v. Morgan, 729 F.3d 1086, 1092 (8th Cir. 2013) (finding Morgan's post-warning statements were admissible despite the fact an officer elicited substantively-similar pre-warning statements from Morgan by

¹⁷ Although Officer Hall directed another officer to handcuff Jones prior to the initial pre-warning questioning, such an act was reasonable in light of the fact a large quantity of cocaine had just been discovered inside Jones's vehicle and could not properly be construed as something rendering Appellant's subsequent statements involuntary under the circumstances. See United States v. Holmes, 670 F.3d 586, 591 (4th Cir. 2012) ("Even where 'threats, violence, implied promises, improper influence, or other coercive police activity' exist, a confession is not necessarily rendered involuntary."); see also United States v. Taylor, 692 F. App'x 114, 117 (4th Cir. 2017) ("[A]n officer's truthful statement that Taylor's son could be arrested was not an unduly coercive threat that rendered Taylor's statement involuntary."); United States v. Mitchell, 514 F. App'x 319, 322 (4th Cir. 2013) (holding Mitchell's statement was not involuntary even if the officers had actually made comments related to his girlfriend's children potentially being removed without a confession because "given the presence of drugs, firearms, and evidence of drug manufacturing in the home, [the girlfriend] could have lost custody of her children had the activity been attributed to her"); cf. United States v. Williams, 336 F. App'x 376, 378 (4th Cir. 2009) (concluding Williams's statements was **not** rendered involuntary as the product of a threat after an officer ordered the arrest of Williams's girlfriend and noting "[t]he evidence does not indicate that the officer threatened to arrest Williams' girlfriend in order to elicit any sort of admission from Williams, but rather that he ordered her arrest as a logical result of her presence at the apartment where a large quantity of cocaine base was discovered").

asking about the identity of an item he removed from Morgan's vehicle where the officer did not engage in deliberate "question first and warn later" questioning and "[n]o evidence suggest[ed] that [Morgan's] postwarning statements were coerced, compelled, or otherwise involuntary"). Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse her broad discretion in finding Appellant's post-warning statements to be admissible, and, in light of the deferential standard of review, there are no proper grounds upon which to overturn her decision on appeal.¹⁸ See Saltz, 346 S.C. at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252 (recognizing a trial judge's ruling regarding the voluntariness of a statement will be affirmed on appeal if supported by **any** evidence); see also State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 369, 652 S.E.2d 438, 443 (Ct. App. 2007) ("The trial judge's determination is not in error if there is any evidence in the record to support it."). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

B. Harmlessness of Any Error in the Admission of Appellant's Statements

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 55, 625 S.E.2d at 223 (2006); see State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) ("Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless."). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the

¹⁸ Supporting the trial judge's findings on the issue of voluntariness, Appellant elected not to testify during the suppression hearing and, thus, never presented any testimony suggesting his post-warning statements were the involuntary product of the initial questioning that occurred during the stop. See State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 545, 665 S.E.2d 247, 251 (Ct. App. 2008) ("Conversely, Breeze did not contradict [the officer]'s testimony with respect to the issue of whether the statement was voluntary. . . . Faced with [the officer]'s undisputed testimony the trial court concluded the State had showed that Breeze voluntarily made the statement. Based on [the officer]'s testimony, we cannot conclude the trial court's ruling is unsupported by any evidence.").

materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). Ultimately, if an error does not contribute to the verdict, that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). Moreover, “[w]hen guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); see United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]”).

In the case sub judice, notwithstanding consideration of the statements Appellant made after being informed of his rights, overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt was presented during trial. Specifically, testimony was presented establishing Appellant behaved in a suspicious manner after getting off a bus, which was identified as a mode of transportation frequented by drug traffickers, and subsequently behaved in an unusually nervous manner while seated in the passenger seat of Jones’s vehicle during the course of a traffic stop conducted on the basis of a simple equipment infraction. Similarly, through the evidence presented, the jury heard Appellant falsely claim to be coming from New York, which was directly contradicted by the information reflected on his bus ticket from Texas. Additionally, testimony and evidence was presented establishing Appellant was in actual possession of a plastic bag containing cocaine along with a “cut” straw at the time of the traffic stop. Furthermore, testimony and

evidence was presented establishing additional plastic bags of cocaine were located hidden in a men's jacket resting on the backseat of the female driver's vehicle underneath a duffle bag containing men's clothing, and, significantly, the plastic bags hidden in the jacket were of the exact same type as the plastic bag removed from Appellant's pocket. Finally, during trial, Jones, the only other adult aside from Appellant in the vehicle at the time of the traffic stop, testified before the jury and directly denied ownership of the drugs found by the officers.

Based on the evidence of Appellant's actual possession of cocaine, Appellant's suspicious and deceptive behavior after using a method of transportation frequented by drug traffickers, the discovery of identically-packaged cocaine hidden inside a men's jacket in close proximity to a duffle bag containing men's clothing, and Jones's denial of ownership of the drugs, Appellant's guilt for possessing all the cocaine found during the course of the traffic stop, including in the jacket located in the vehicle Jones used to pick Appellant up from the bus station, was overwhelmingly established even without any consideration being given to Appellant's statements. See State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 60, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding any error in the trial judge's failure to suppress White's statement placing White at the scene of a murder as the product of impermissible "question first and warn later" questioning was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because, "notwithstanding White's statement, cell phone evidence clearly placed [the victim] and White together at the time and place of the murder" and further finding any error to be harmless in light of the witness testimony linking White to the murder); see also State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) ("Given the abundant evidence of Tench's guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."). Considering that overwhelming evidence of guilt in conjunction with the highly limited nature of Appellant's

statements, any error resulting from the admission of those statements, which solely revealed the jacket was Appellant's and did not reveal Appellant had any knowledge of the items found inside, was entirely harmless, insignificant, and could not have had any impact on the outcome of Appellant's case. See Medley, 417 S.C. at 30, 787 S.E.2d at 853 (“[N]otwithstanding the erroneous admission of Medley's statements regarding his alcohol consumption, we find the record contained ample evidence from which a jury could have concluded Medley was guilty, beyond a reasonable doubt, of second-offense DUI. Thus, to the extent the court erred in admitting such statements, we find the error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”); see also State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 129, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621-622 (1997) (“[A]ny error in the failure to suppress his statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . The overwhelming evidence of Easler's guilt renders any Miranda violation harmless.”); State v. Lynch, 375 S.C. 628, 636, 654 S.E.2d 292, 297 (Ct. App. 2007) (“The overwhelming evidence of Lynch's guilt renders any possible Miranda violation harmless.”); State v. Newell, 303 S.C. 471, 477, 401 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Although the trial judge erred in not suppressing Sergeant Canty's testimony regarding Newell's in-custody statement because of his failure to advise Newell of her rights under Miranda, we deem the admission of this testimony harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The record contains overwhelming evidence of Newell's guilt independent of her statements to Sergeant Canty.” (citation omitted)); cf. White, 410 S.C. at 60, 762 S.E.2d at 728 (“[W]e find the entire record on appeal establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that any error in the admission of White's statement did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.